A. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The trial court violated Mr. Garrott's right to due process and 

fundamental fairness in counting subsequent convictions in his offender 

score on resentencing. 

B. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The Due Process Clauses ofthe United States and Washington 

Constitutions require the process at sentencing to abide by prevailing 

notions of fundamental fairness. Here, due to the failure of the State to 

timely move to resentence Mr. Garrott, he was subjected to a higher 

offender score once he moved to be resentenced several years later. 

Did the State's failure to act in a timely manner violate Mr. Garrott's 

right to fundamental fairness? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On April23, 2004, Rodney Garrott was found guilty in King 

County Superior Court following a jury trial, of one count of residential 

burglary and one count of first degree trafficking in stolen property. 

Mr. Garrott appealed those convictions and this Court reversed the 

convictions based upon a finding ofthe ineffective assistance oftrial 

counsel, and remanded for a new trial. State v. Garrott, 2005 WL 

1302983 (No. 54256-7-I, May 23, 2005). Mr. Garrott subsequently 

1 



pleaded guilty to a single count of residential burglary, and on February 

3, 2006, he was sentenced on that count. 

While Mr. Garrott's appeal was pending, he entered a guilty 

plea to two separate cause numbers arising from two unrelated 

incidents: one count of residential burglary and one count of second 

degree possession of stolen property. CP 5-14,299-308. Mr. Garrott 

was sentenced on those matters on May 28, 2004. 1 CP 23-30, 316-22. 

The State did not move to have Mr. Garrott resentenced on these 

offenses following his sentencing in 2006 on the 2004 convictions 

which were reversed. 

On August 29, 2011, Mr. Garrott filed a Personal Restraint 

Petition (PRP) directly in the Supreme Court, moving to be resentenced 

on the May 2004 counts based upon the reversal of the April 2004 

counts and subsequent resentencing in 2006.2 In the interim between 

May 2004 and August 2011, Mr. Garrott had suffered additional felony 

convictions. CP 136-61. In its response to Mr. Garrott's PRP, the 

State conceded Mr. Garrott was entitled to be resentenced on the May 

1 Resentencing on these two convictions is the subject of this appeal. 

2 Mr. Garrott initially filed a Motion to Modify or Correct Sentence Pursuant 
to CrR 7 .8. CP 41-84. The trial court transferred the motion to this Court pursuant 
to CrR 7.8(c)(2). CP 40. 
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2004 convictions, but contended that the subsequent convictions had to 

be counted in recalculating Mr. Garrott's presumptive sentence. CP 

91-92. The Supreme Court granted Mr. Garrott's PRP, and remanded 

for resentencing. CP 398. 

At resentencing Mr. Garrott moved to represent himself, which, 

following a colloquy, was granted. CP 166, 399; RP 19-31. Mr. 

Garrott objected to the addition of the subsequent convictions to his 

offender score as "prior convictions," contending it was the State's 

failure to move to have him resentenced in 2006 that caused the 

subsequent convictions to be counted in calculating his offender score 

in 2013. RP 61-64, 65-67. The trial court disagreed and resentenced 

Mr. Garrott, counting the subsequent convictions in his offender score. 

CP 192, 425; RP 67-68. 

Mr. Garrott appeals. CP 291,431. 
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D. ARGUMENT 

THE DILATORY BEHAVIOR OF THE STATE 
VIOLATED MR. GARROTT'S RIGHT TO DUE 
PROCESS AND FUNDAMENTAL FAIRNESS 

1. Mr. Garrott possessed the right to due process and 

fundamental fairness at sentencing. Article I, section 3 of the 

Washington Constitution and the Fifth Amendment of the United States 

Constitution provide, "No person shall be deprived of life, liberty, or 

property, without due process of law." The Fifth Amendment is 

applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment. Malloy v. 

Hogan, 378 U.S. 1, 6, 84 S.Ct. 1489, 12 L.Ed.2d 653 (1964); State v. 

Foster, 91 Wn.2d 466,473, 589 P.2d 789 (1979). The due process 

inquiry asks whether the complained of treatment is so arbitrary or 

unfair that it denies due process. State v. Handley, 115 Wn.2d 275, 290 

n. 4, 796 P.2d 1266 (1990).3 

"Although 'due process' cannot be precisely defined, the phrase 

requires 'fundamental fairness."' In re Dependency of K.NJ., 171 

3 While under RCW 9 .94A.585(1 ), a defendant cannot appeal the length of a 
standard range criminal sentence, this prohibition does not prevent Mr. Garrott from 
challenging "the underlying legal conclusions and determinations by which a court 
comes to apply a particular sentencing provision." State v. Murawski, 142 Wn.App. 
278, 283, 173 P.3d 994 (2007), review denied, 164 Wn.2d 1005 (2008), quoting State 
v. Williams, 149 Wn.2d 143, 147,65 P.3d 1214 (2003). In addition, constitutional 
challenges to a sentence calculation are not subject to the general prohibition against 
appealing standard range sentences. State v. Herzog, 112 Wn.2d 419,422-23,771 
P.2d 739 (1989). 
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Wn.2d 568, 574, 257 P.3d 522 (2011), quoting In re Personal Restraint 

Petition of Blackburn, 168 Wn.2d 881, 885, 232 P.3d 1091 (2010). A 

government deprivation of liberty must abide by "prevailing notions of 

fundamental fairness." State v. Lord, 117 Wn.2d 829, 867, 822 P.2d 

177 (1991). 

Under RCW 9.94A.589(1), the defendant's offender score is 

determined by "using all other current and prior convictions as if they 

were prior convictions[.]" A "prior conviction" is "a conviction which 

exists before the date of sentencing for the offense for which the 

offender score is being computed." RCW 9.94A.525(1). 

On remand following a successful appeal, there is no prohibition 

against using the defendant's subsequent convictions in recalculating 

the standard range. State v. Callicott, 118 Wn.2d 649, 664-65, 827 

P,.2d 263 (1992). In Callicott, the defendant pleaded guilty to several 

offenses in 1985, then appealed the sentences imposed, arguing the 

crimes constituted the same criminal conduct. In 1986, while the 

appeal was pending, the defendant pleaded guilty to another unrelated 

offense. Id. at 652-53. The Supreme Court reversed the 1985 

sentences and held that on remand, the sentencing court could use the 
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1986 conviction as a prior conviction in recalculating the standard 

range. !d. at 664-65. 

Callicott differs markedly from the case at bar. Here, the only 

reason the subsequent convictions could have been counted in 

calculating Mr. Garrott's presumptive sentence in 2013 was because of 

the State's failure to move for resentencing after the April 2004 

convictions were reversed. All of Mr. Garrott's convictions occurred in 

King County, so the King County Prosecutor's Office was aware that 

the 2004 convictions had been reversed, but the Prosecutor's Office 

made no attempt to have Mr. Garrott resentenced on the May 2004 

convictions. Further, the State acknowledged its error in its response to 

Mr. Garrott's PRP when it conceded the May 2004 convictions had to 

be remanded for resentencing. Had the State moved timely for 

resentencing in 2006, Mr. Garrott's offender score would not have been 

as high as it was when he was subsequently resentenced in 2013. 

It is patently unfair, and violative of due process and 

fundamental fairness, for Mr. Garrott to suffer a greater sentence based 

upon the failure of the prosecutors. As a result, Mr. Garrott's right to 

be sentenced in a fundamentally fair manner was violated, thus his right 

to due process was violated. The rule in Callicott should not apply and 
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the subsequent convictions should not have been counted in 

recalculating Mr. Garrott's presumptive standard range. 

2. The decision in Callicott does not compel the conclusion that 

the intervening convictions were required to be included in Mr. 

Garrott's offender score. In response to Mr. Garrott's argument that the 

intervening convictions should not count, the State has repeatedly 

claimed that Callicott requires they be included. CP 319-20. Callicott 

does not compel this conclusion, and to the extent this Court deems it 

does, the decision in Callicott should be reexamined. 

Initially, the portion of Callicott that speaks to the scoring issue 

was dicta and should not be followed. The focus of the lead opinion 

written by Justice Smith, was whether the trial court's decision to 

impose an exceptional sentence was justified in light of the trial court's 

incorrect analysis of the same criminal conduct test. 118 Wn.2d at 667. 

This "lead" opinion was only joined by three other justices. The four 

justices would have reversed the imposition of the exceptional 

sentence, finding insufficient evidence in the record to support it. Id. at 

661-63. The unanimous decision of the Court was to overrule its prior 

decision and adopt a different rule for determining whether offenses 

constituted the same criminal conduct. !d. at 667, 679-80. Thus, 
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Callicott stands only for the proposition that the correct test for 

determining whether offenses are the same criminal conduct is that 

announced in State v. Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P.2d 160 

( 1987). !d. at 669-70. The remainder of the decision, particularly that 

portion purporting to determine the defendant's offender score on 

remand, is dicta with no precedential value. See Kailin v. Clallam 

County, 152 Wn.App. 974, 985-86, 220 P.3d 222 (2009) (internal 

quotation marks omitted) (where there is '"no majority agreement as to 

the rationale for a decision, the holding of the court is the position 

taken by those concurring on the narrowest grounds.'"), quoting WR. 

Grace & Co. v. Department of Revenue, 137 Wn.2d 580, 593, 973 P.2d 

1011 (1999).4 

This Court should instead apply the test adopted by the Supreme 

Court in State v. Whitaker, 112 Wn.2d 341, 771 P.2d 332 (1989), which 

dealt with a similar issue. In 1981, Mr. Whitaker had been given 

probation and a deferred sentence for a negligent homicide conviction. 

4 This rule was noted by the five justice concurrence/majority opinion: 

My disagreement with the majority opinion here is that it goes 
beyond what is necessary to resolve this case. I refer specifically to 
the discussions of collateral estoppel, the "clearly too lenient" 
standard, and the "zone of privacy" factor. 

Whitaker, 118 Wn.2d at 669-70 (Durham, J., concurring). 
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In 1986, the court revoked his probation and imposed the sentence 

originally deferred in 1981. In calculating his offender score, the Court 

included a 1986 reckless driving conviction as a prior conviction 

because it existed prior to the revocation hearing. Mr. Whitaker 

appealed the inclusion of this offense. The Supreme Court decided it 

was error to include the 1986 conviction as a prior offense, because to 

"hold otherwise would be illogical." !d. at 346. The Court held that 

when a trial court revokes probation for a pre-Sentencing Reform Act 

(SRA) offense and then calculates the offender score under the SRA 

guidelines, the date of sentencing relates back to the date of the original 

proceeding. !d. at 346-4 7. 

Using Whitaker as a guide here, the trial court erred when it 

resentenced Mr. Garrott by counting the intervening convictions in his 

offender score when he was resentenced in 20 13. When the April 2004 

convictions were reversed, Mr. Garrott should have been resentenced. 

Because the State failed to move to have him resentenced in a timely 

manner, his intervening convictions were incorrectly treated as prior 

convictions. As noted in Whitaker, this produced an illogical result. 

The sentencing date for the May 2004 convictions on resentencing 

should have related relate back to May 2004 instead of 2013. 
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Mr. Garrott's sentence in this matter must be reversed and he 

must be resentenced without the use of the subsequent convictions that 

occurred between 2004 and 2013. 

E. CONCLUSION 

Mr. Garrott respectfully asks this Court to reverse his sentence 

and remand for a sentence without the subsequent convictions factored 

into the calculation of his offender score.