69906-7

NO. 69906-7-I

21-13

## COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## DIVISION I

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

۷.

RODNEY LOUIS GARROTT,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE KIMBERLEY PROCHNAU

## BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

÷

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

AMY R. MECKLING Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

##

#### A. ISSUES PRESENTED

>

Was Garrott's right to due process infringed when the court included his subsequently committed and subsequently discovered convictions in his offender score upon resentencing after his collateral attack?

## B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The procedural history of the two cases that are the subject of this appeal is convoluted due to the number of felony charges amassed by Garrott between 2003 and 2005.<sup>1</sup>

Garrott was charged in 2003 with Residential Burglary under cause number 03-1-07859-6 SEA. CP 115. Also, in August of 2003, Garrott was charged in an unrelated case with two counts of Residential Burglary under cause number 03-1-08069-8 SEA. CP 1-2. Then, in November of 2003, Garrott was charged with second-degree Possessing Stolen Property in a third unrelated case filed as cause number 03-1-09848-1 SEA. CP 295.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A visual representation, which may be useful to the court, is included as Appendix A. The shaded boxes represent the two cause numbers that are the subject of this appeal.

Garrott chose to go to trial on 03-1-07859-6 SEA, and on December 18, 2003, he was convicted by a jury of Residential Burglary and first-degree Trafficking in Stolen Property. CP 115. He was sentenced on April 23, 2004. CP 115-21.

On May 18, 2004, Garrott pled guilty to the charges under cause numbers 03-1-08069-8 SEA and 03-1-09848-1 SEA. CP 23, 316. He was sentenced on May 28, 2004. CP 23-30, 316-22. Because Garrott had already been convicted following the trial in 03-1-07859-6 SEA, two points for those felony convictions were properly included in his offender scores at the May 28, 2004, sentencing hearing.<sup>2</sup>

Garrott appealed his jury conviction under cause number 03-1-07859-6 SEA. CP 90-91. He did not appeal the May 28, 2004, sentences that resulted from guilty pleas (hereinafter referred to as the "2004 convictions"). The 2004 convictions are the subject of this direct appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The original judgment and sentences erroneously refer to these convictions by the cause number 03-1-04147-1 SEA, but it is clear from the sentencing date (April 23, 2004) and crimes (residential burglary and trafficking) that they are the convictions in 03-1-07859-6 SEA. The 03-1-04147-1 case number relates to yet another, earlier 2003 conviction of Garrott's. <u>See</u> CP 29, 321.

In early 2005, while the appeal on the trial case was pending, Garrott was released from prison on <u>all</u> of the 2003 cause numbers and began the community custody portion of his sentences. CP 91, 133. Garrott promptly reoffended, and was charged with new felony offenses under two King County cause numbers: 05-1-10944-7 KNT (Residential Burglary) and 05-1-07082-6 SEA (Residential Burglary). CP 91.

While the new 2005 charges were pending, Garrott's jury convictions under cause number 03-1-07859-6 SEA were reversed on appeal. CP 91. On July 28, 2005, just two weeks after the mandate issued on the reversed case, Garrott pled guilty to one count of Residential Burglary under the mandated cause number. CP 91, 136. In exchange for his plea, the first degree Trafficking in Stolen Property charge was dismissed. CP 91, 137. That same day, Garrott also pled guilty to Residential Burglary under one of the new 2005 cause numbers, 05-1-07082-6 SEA. CP 91, 144. He was sentenced for both cases on February 3, 2006. CP 91, 136-51.

- 3 -

Later, on March 15, 2006, Garrott was convicted of Residential Burglary following a jury trial on the remaining 2005 cause number, 05-1-10944-7 KNT. CP 153. He was sentenced on April 7, 2006. CP 153-61.

In August of 2011, Garrott filed a personal restraint petition in the Washington Supreme Court arguing that because his 2003 trial case had been reversed on appeal in 2005, his judgments and sentences on the 2004 cases, which included two points for the reversed case, were facially invalid. The State conceded that Garrott's offender scores, although correct when the sentences were imposed, later became inaccurate based on the reversal of the trial case. The State agreed that <u>State v. Klump<sup>3</sup> and State v.</u> <u>King<sup>4</sup> provided authority for Garrott's argument that his 2004</u> sentences were "facially invalid." CP 91-92, 163-64.

However, the State pointed out that Garrott had subsequently been re-convicted of Residential Burglary under the reversed trial case, as well as two additional felonies under the new 2005 cause numbers. CP 92, 164. The State noted that if Garrott was resentenced on the 2004 cases, his offender scores would be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> 80 Wn. App. 391, 909 P.2d 317 (1996).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> 135 Wn. App. 662, 674, 145 P.3d 1224 (2006).

calculated as of the date of the resentencing, and would likely be higher. <u>Id.</u> The Supreme Court Commissioner questioned whether Garrott appreciated "the peril underlying his request for resentencing" and asked Garrott to clarify his desires in a supplemental memorandum. CP 164. After receiving Garrott's supplemental memorandum, the Commissioner transferred the petition to a department of the Supreme Court, who remanded the 2004 cases for resentencing. CP 92, 165.

Garrott elected to represent himself on remand. RP 22-31. He moved for dismissal of the 2004 cases, arguing that when the unrelated trial case was reversed in 2005, that decision automatically "invalidated" the sentences in the 2004 cases, and the State had an obligation to resentence him at that time.<sup>5</sup> CP 167-68, 400-01; RP 61-64. On February 1, 2013, the trial court denied Garrott's motion to dismiss, and resentenced him within the standard range. CP 186-93, 419-26; RP 67. When calculating Garrott's standard ranges for resentencing, the court included in his offender scores Garrott's 2005 convictions, as well as four additional prior felony convictions from Illinois, the existence of which the State had discovered following his arrest on the 2005

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Garrott did not designate his written motion as clerk's papers in this appeal.

charges. CP 187, 192, 420, 425; RP 67. Garrott now appeals and argues that none of his subsequent convictions and subsequently discovered convictions should have been included in his offender scores upon resentencing. CP 291-92, 431-32.

## C. ARGUMENT

۰.

..

Citing "fundamental fairness," Garrott contends that after his 2003 trial case was reversed on appeal in 2005, the State had an affirmative obligation to move to reopen two unrelated 2004 final judgment and sentences, and ask that he be resentenced without including any of his subsequent convictions or subsequentlydiscovered offenses in his offender score. Garrott cites to no persuasive authority for this position. Indeed, the State had no ability or obligation to reopen cases in which Garrott had a legitimate expectation of finality. Garrott's sentences must be affirmed.

## THE SENTENCING COURT PROPERLY INCLUDED GARROTT'S SUBSEQUENT AND SUBSEQUENTLY DISCOVERED CONVICTIONS IN HIS OFFENDER SCORES UPON RESENTENCING.

A properly calculated offender score includes "all other current and prior convictions[.]" RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). A prior

1310-18 Garrott COA

conviction is one that "exists before the date of sentencing for the offense for which the offender score is being computed." RCW 9.94A.525(1). Thus, if a defendant is resentenced, crimes of which he was convicted after his original sentencing are "prior convictions" that must be included in his offender score. See State v. Shilling, 77 Wn. App. 166, 175, 889 P.2d 948, rev. denied, 127 Wn.2d 1006, 898 P.2d 308 (1995) ("The offender score includes all prior convictions . . . existing at the time of that particular sentencing, without regard to when the underlying incidents occurred, the chronological relationship among the convictions, or the sentencing or resentencing chronology."); State v. Collicot, 118 Wn.2d 649, 827 P.2d 263 (1992) (subsequent convictions appropriately used to calculate the defendant's offender score upon resentencing); State v. Clark, 125 Wn. App. 515, 94 P.3d 335 (2004) (sentencing court properly included in defendant's offender score subsequent convictions that occurred during pendency of appeal).

Indeed, in 2008, the legislature amended the Sentencing Reform Act ("SRA") to further "ensure that sentences imposed accurately reflect the offender's actual, complete criminal history,

1310-18 Garrott COA

•.

..

whether imposed at sentencing <u>or upon resentencing</u>." Laws of 2008, ch. 231, § 1 (emphasis added). The stated impetus for the legislature's action was several decisions of the Washington Supreme Court which had limited a sentencing court's ability to consider certain prior convictions when calculating a defendant's offender score upon resentencing.<sup>6</sup> Laws of 2008, ch. 231, § 1. Included in the adopted changes was:

The fact that a prior conviction was not included in an offender's offender score or criminal history at a previous sentencing shall have no bearing on whether it is included in the criminal history or offender score for the current offense. ... Prior convictions that were not included in criminal history or in the offender score shall be included upon any resentencing to ensure imposition of an accurate sentence.

Laws of 2008, ch. 231, § 3 (currently codified as RCW

9.94A.525(22)) (emphasis added).

Additionally, the legislature specified, "On remand for

resentencing following appeal or collateral attack, the parties shall

have the opportunity to present and the court to consider all

relevant evidence regarding criminal history, including criminal

٩.

..

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The legislature cited to <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Cadwallader</u>, 155 Wn.2d 867, 123 P.3d 456 (2005), <u>State v. Lopez</u>, 147 Wn.2d 515, 55 P.3d 609 (2002), <u>State v. Ford</u>, 137 Wn.2d 472, 973 P.2d 452 (1999) and <u>State v. McCorkle</u>, 137 Wn.2d 490, 973 P.2d 461 (1999).

history not previously presented." Laws of 2008, ch. 231, § 4 (currently codified as RCW 9.94A.530(2)) (emphasis added).

Garrott's resentencing hearing in 2013 occurred as a result of his 2011 collateral attack. Therefore, the resentencing court was statutorily required to consider all of his prior criminal convictions, including those that he committed after his original sentencing in 2004, and those additional Illinois convictions that the State discovered after his original sentencing hearing in 2004.

Garrott does not acknowledge this statutory mandate.<sup>7</sup> Rather, he simply declares that it was "patently unfair, and violative of due process and fundamental fairness" for the court to have included his subsequent convictions in his offender scores.<sup>8</sup> Brf. of App. at 6. However, Garrott's argument begins and ends with the mistaken assertion that the State had the ability and obligation to move to reopen his final 2004 sentences following the reversal of an entirely unrelated case in 2005.

٩.

••

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Although he does not mention or discuss the requirements of the SRA, Garrott argues that this Court should follow <u>State v. Whitaker</u>, 112 Wn.2d 341, 771 P.2d 332 (1989), instead of <u>Collicot</u>, <u>supra</u>. However, in approving the inclusion of subsequent convictions in the offender score at a resentencing hearing, the court in <u>Collicot</u> distinguished the facts of <u>Whitaker</u>, stating, "We are not here concerned with probation and revocation." <u>Collicot</u>, 118 Wn.2d at 665. Garrott's situation is legally indistinguishable from <u>Collicot</u>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> In fact, this Court has determined that due process was <u>not</u> violated when subsequent convictions were included in the offender score upon resentencing. <u>State v. Bryan</u>, 145 Wn. App. 353, 363-64, 185 P.3d 1320 (2008).

Garrott cites to no authority in support of his pronouncement that the State was required to move "for resentencing in 2006." Brf. of App. at 6. This court need not consider a claim where no argument is made beyond an assertion of the conclusion itself. <u>State v. Martin</u>, 41 Wn. App. 133, 141, 703 P.2d 309 (1985) (citing <u>Hockley v. Hargitt</u>, 82 Wn.2d 337, 345, 510 P.2d 1123 (1973)). In any event, due process does not require that when a conviction is reversed on appeal, the State comb through the defendant's unrelated final judgments and sentences to determine whether the reversal affects those other cases, and then move to reopen them.

In fact, the State would have been prohibited from attempting to resentence Garrott. By the time the trial case was reversed in 2005, the State had discovered four additional felony convictions from Illinois belonging to Garrott. CP 142, 150. And, just two weeks after the mandate issued in the reversed trial case, Garrott pled guilty to the reversed case, as well as to a new felony offense. CP 91, 136. Therefore, after the trial reversal in 2005, Garrott's offender scores and standard ranges in the 2004 matters would have been substantially higher than originally reflected on the final judgments and sentences.

٩.

...

The double jeopardy clause prevents the State from increasing a sentence (even if it is erroneous) if the defendant has a legitimate expectation of finality in it. <u>State v. Hardesty</u>, 129 Wn.2d 303, 310-11, 915 P.2d 1080 (1996). If the defendant is not on notice that his sentence might be modified, and if he has substantially served it, he has a legitimate expectation of finality. <u>Id.</u> at 312. The State did not appeal, challenge, or otherwise place Garrott on notice that it would seek to alter his 2004 sentences sentences that Garrott did not appeal and had substantially served. If the State had moved to reopen the 2004 cases and resentence Garrott over a year later when his unrelated trial case was reversed, double jeopardy would have precluded a resentencing.

Belying Garrott's claim of "unfairness" is the reality that the only reason he is now serving more time on the 2004 cases is because he collaterally attacked them in 2011, after having been convicted of additional crimes in the interim. The State had no ability, much less obligation, to unilaterally move to reopen and resentence Garrott in matters that were final. Garrott was given the opportunity in 2012 to withdraw his personal restraint petition and let a sleeping dog lie. He chose to awaken it, and his appeal should be rejected.

1310-18 Garrott COA

· .

- 11 -

## D. CONCLUSION

•

For all of the above-stated reasons, the State respectfully

requests this Court to affirm the judgments and sentences.